
 

222

Corporate & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

Planning Agenda 
 
Wednesday, 19 April 2023 at 6.00 pm 
Council Chamber, Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place, Hastings, TN34 3UY.   
Please enter the building through the Contact Centre entrance via the seafront. 
 
For further information, please contact Democratic Services on 01424 451484 or email: 
democraticservices@hastings.gov.uk 
 
  Page No. 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

 
2.   Declarations of Interest 

 
 

 
3.   Minutes of previous meeting 22/03/23 

 
1 - 8 

 
4.   Notification of any additional urgent items 

 
 

 
5.   Planning Applications   
 (a)   5 The Green, St Leonards-on-sea, (HS/FA/22/00264) 9 - 34 
  T. Bagshaw (Principal Planning Officer) 

  
https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_H
STBC_DCAPR_119473 
 

 

 
 (b)   High Beech Chalet Park, (The Office), Washington Avenue, St 

Leonards-on-sea (HS/FA/23/00023) 
35 - 44 

  W. Larkin (Planning Officer) 
  
https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_H
STBC_DCAPR_120279 
 

 

 
6.   Planning Appeals and Delegated Decisions 45 - 46 
 

Public Document Pack

https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_119473
https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_119473
https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_119473
https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_120279
https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_120279
https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_120279


This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING 
 

22 MARCH 2023 
 

PC. 1 

 
 

Present: Councillors O'Callaghan (Chair), Collins (Vice-Chair), Beaney, 
Beaver, Cannan, Edwards, Roberts, Williams and Sinden 
 
 

 
401. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Councillors Bacon and Councillor Webb substituted by Councillor Sinden 

  
 
402. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

Councillor Item Interest 

Cllr Beaver 5(a) 

  

Personal – East Sussex 
County Councillor 

Cllr Sinden 5(a) Personal – Lives near to 
application site. 

  
 
403. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 22/02/23  
 
RESOLVED – that the minutes of the meetings held on 22nd February 2023 be 
approved as a true record 

  
 
404. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ADDITIONAL URGENT ITEMS  
 
None received 
  
 
405. PLANNING APPLICATIONS  
 
406. LAND ADJACENT, 777 THE RIDGE, (EAST OF HARROW LANE), ST 

LEONARDS-ON-SEA (HS/FA/22/00906)  
 

  
Proposal 

Variation of condition 2 (approved 
plans), condition 15 (landscape 
drawing) and deletion of condition 19 
(apartment building) of Planning 
Permission HS/FA/20/00970 granted 
on appeal APP/B415/W/21/3285744 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING 
 

22 MARCH 2023 
 

PC. 2 
 

(Erection of 67 dwellings together with 
access, open space, parking and 
landscaping) - Amendment to 
proposed housing mix and housing 
types including minor alterations to 
landscaping, elevation treatments and 
fenestration. 

Application No HS/FA/22/00906 
Conservation Area No 
Listed Building No 
Public Consultation Yes – 7 objections received 

  

The Principal Planning Officer updated that there had been four further letters of 
objection. These were expanding on concerns already raised and the total number of 
households objecting remains the same. Slides were shown showing a location plan, 
a block plan, an arial photography and photographs of the site from Harrow Lane and 
the public footpath on The Ridge. A Layout slide was shown, and the Principal 
Planning Officer explained the layout is largely the same as originally approved, other 
than the amendments discussed in the report. The main change in this application is 
the proposed housing mix. This to be changed to now include two houses instead of a 
block of four flats. It also reduces the number of two-bedroom houses with offices and 
replaces them with size compliant three-bedroom units to make them more 
marketable as family homes. Slides were shown of the street scene and The Principal 
Planning Officer explained how some houses will have a loss of stonework and other 
minor alterations. There have been seven objections to the application, and these are 
covered in the report. The amendments are not considered substantial and are 
appropriate to be dealt with by the minor material amendment process, further details, 
drawings and clarification have been requested and received from the applicant since 
the application was submitted and the viability to provide affordable housing has been 
independently reviewed. 

Councillors asked regarding the other applications on this site. The Principal Planning 
officer answered that they are alternatives to this application, but it is possible to have 
more than one permission on the site. It just gives the developer options of which one 
they implement. 

Councillors asked regarding this application being a minor amendment. The Planning 
Services Manager answered that this is a minor material amendment, and the reasons 
are explained in the report. The Senior Solicitor explained that this application needs 
to be assessed as it is. It is not for the committee to assess if this is a minor material 
amendment or to reopen viability issues. 

Page 2



PLANNING 
 

22 MARCH 2023 
 

PC. 3 
 

Councillors asked if a section 106 agreement from the prior agreement would cover 
this application. The Planning Services Manager answered that the section 106 
agreement will need to be amended to cover this application.  

Councillors asked which permission is currently being implemented.  The Principal 
Planning Officer explained there is currently only one extant planning permission and 
that is what is being implemented.  That could change if subsequent applications are 
approved. 

Councillors debated.  

Councillor Edwards proposed to defer the application. There was no seconder for the 
proposal. 

Councillor Roberts proposed approval of the recommendation, seconded by Councillor 
O'Callaghan. 

RESOLVED (5 votes for, 2 votes against, 1 abstention)   
  
Grant Full Planning Permission subject to the following conditions: 
  
  
1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: 
  
6695/P/LBP, 6695/P/100/D, 6695/P/101/D, 6695/P/102/C, 6695/P/103/D, 
6695/P/104/C, 6695/P/200/C, 6695/P/106/D, 6695/P/107/G, 6695/P/110/E, 
6695/P/111/C, 6695/P/112/C, 6695/P/113/E, 6695/P/114/E, 6695/P/115D, 
6695/P/116/E, 6695/P/117/D, 6695/P/118/C, 6695/P/119/C, 6695/P/120/C, 
6695/P/121/D, 6695/P/122/D, 6695/P/123/D, 6695/P/124/C, 6695/P/125/B, 
6695/P/126/C, 6695/P/127/C, 6695/P/130/B, 6695/P/131/B, 6695/P/132/A, 
6695/P/164/B, 6695/P/165/B, 6695/P/166/B, 6695/P/167/B, 6695/P/133/B, 
6695/P/134/C, 6695/P/136/B, 6695/P/140/A, 6695/P/141/B, PLG/1656/20/E, 
2020/5574/001/P8, 2020/5574/002/P7, 2020/5574/003/P4, 2200-1-S4 P15, 
2201-2-S4 P15, 2210 S4 P03, 2220 S4 P4, 2221 S4 P2      
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
   

  
2. Prior to commencement of development above the slab level of any of the 

approved buildings, details including samples of the materials to be used in 
the construction of the external surfaces of the development shall be 

Page 3



PLANNING 
 

22 MARCH 2023 
 

PC. 4 
 

submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.   

  
3. Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to commencement of 

development above the ground level slab of any new building, details of a 
scheme for hard surfacing across the site shall be submitted to, and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Those details shall include finished 
levels, pedestrian access and circulation areas, and details of materials for 
driveways. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.   

  
4. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved land contamination measures in the documents titled ‘Combined 
Geotechnical and Quantitative Ground Contamination Risk Assessment’ 
prepared by Ashdown Investigation Ltd and dated December 2020, and 
‘Ground Gas Risk Assessment’ by Ashdown Investigation Ltd dated March 
2021. Any variation to the measures contained therein shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in advance of those 
works being undertaken. The recommendations and measures in the above 
mentioned documents shall be adhered to in full.   

  
5. Any contamination that is found during the course of construction of the 

approved development that was not previously identified shall be reported 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the part of the 
site affected shall be suspended and a risk assessment carried out and 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where 
unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
approved schemes shall be carried out before the development is resumed or 
continued.   

  
6. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the ecological 

measures detailed in the report titled ‘Ecological Enhancement, Management 
and Mitigation Plan’ prepared by Greenspace Ecological Solutions and dated 
December 2020, and shall include hedgerow, shrub and species-rich 
grassland management, hedgerow planting, bat and bird boxes and hedgehog 
houses.  
  

  
7. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the methodologies 

contained in Section 4: Sensitive Works Methodologies of the report titled 
‘Ecological Enhancement, Management and Mitigation Plan’ by Greenspace 
Ecological Solutions dated December 2020, and those measures shall remain 
in place through the construction process.  
  

  
8. No development shall take place until the protective fences to safeguard trees 

and hedges have been installed in full accordance with the Tree Protection 
Plan forming part of the report ‘Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method 
Statement, Revision A’ by Greenspace Ecological Solutions dated December 

Page 4



PLANNING 
 

22 MARCH 2023 
 

PC. 5 
 

2020. The trees and hedgerows identified as being retained by the report shall 
be protected in accordance with the protection measures detailed within the 
report for the duration of the construction period.   

  
9. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the ‘Construction 

Method Statement’, Revision A, prepared by The Park Lane Group, dated 
March 2021.    

  
10. The measures detailed within the ‘Travel Plan’ by RGP, dated December 

2020 shall be implemented from the first occupation of any part of the 
development and shall remain thereafter for a period of 5 years. Monitoring 
reports shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority in accordance with 
the details contained therein.   

  
11. With the exception of internal works to the buildings hereby approved, the 

development must be carried out within the following times: 08:00- 18:00 
Monday to Friday, 08:00- 13:00 on Saturdays, and no working on Sundays or 
Public Holidays.   

  
12. The underwater attenuation tanks shall be installed in accordance with the 

details approved under HS/CD/22/00879 and shall be so maintained in 
accordance with the approved details. 
  

  
13. The scheme of soft landscaping for the site (shown on plan PLG/1656/20 Rev 

E) shall be implemented in full and not later than the first planting season 
following the first occupation of the development. If, within a period of 5 years 
from the date of planting, the tree (or any tree planted in replacement for it) is 
removed, uprooted, destroyed or dies or becomes, in the opinion of the Local 
Planning Authority, seriously damaged or defective, another tree of the same 
size and species as that originally planted shall be planted at the same place 
within the first planting season following the removal, uprooting, destruction or 
death of the original tree unless the local planning authority gives its written 
consent to any variation. 
  

  
14. No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until the 

storage and collection points for refuse bins, and all car parking spaces shown 
on the approved plans have been installed in full. These shall be retained and 
be available for use as such at all times.  
  

  
15. Prior to the first occupation of the development, details of cycle parking areas 

shall be submitted to, and approved in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority. These facilities shall be installed and available for use prior to the 
first occupation of the units they serve and shall be maintained at all times.   

  
  
16. No external lighting shall be installed unless details have first been submitted 

to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Those details shall 

Page 5



PLANNING 
 

22 MARCH 2023 
 

PC. 6 
 

include provisions for avoidance of ‘light spill’, and the external lighting shall 
be installed only in accordance with the approved details.  

  
17. No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until the 

visibility splays at the Harrow Lane access, shown on plan 2020/5574/001 P7, 
have been provided in full. These shall be maintained and be free of any 
obstruction above 0.6m metres at all times.   

  
  
Reasons: 
  
1. For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
  
2. In the interests of the visual amenity of the area.  
  
3. In the interests of the visual amenity of the area.  
  
4. To protect those redeveloping the site and any future occupants from potential 

landfill gases and soil contamination. 
  
5. To protect those redeveloping the site and any future occupants from potential 

landfill gases and soil contamination. 
  
6. To protect features of recognised nature conservation importance. 
  
7. To protect features of recognised nature conservation importance. 
  
8. In the interests of the visual amenity. 
  
9. In the interests of the visual amenity. 
  
10. To encourage and promote sustainable transport. 
  
11. In the interests of amenity. 
  
12. To prevent increased risk of flooding. 
  
13. In the interests of the visual amenity. 
  
14. In order to secure a well planned development. 

  
  
15. To encourage and promote sustainable transport. 
  
16. In the interests of the visual amenity. 
  
17. In the interest of highway safety. 
  
  
Notes to the Applicant  

Page 6



PLANNING 
 

22 MARCH 2023 
 

PC. 7 
 

  
  
1. Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result in 

enforcement action without further warning. 
  
2. Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings 

Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive 
and proactive manner, in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

  
3. This permission is the subject of an obligation under Section 106 of the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
  
4. This Authority’s requirements associated with this development proposal will 

need to be secured through a Section 278 Legal Agreement between the 
applicant and East Sussex County Council. The applicant is requested to 
contact the Transport Development Control Team (01273 482254) to 
commence this process. The applicant is advised that it is an offence to 
undertake any works within the highway prior to the agreement being in place. 
  

  
5. In the event that roads are not offered for adoption, the Highway Authority 

would wish to see the roads within the site laid out and constructed to 
standards at, or at least close to, adoption standards. 
  

  
6. In the event that any sewers are found within the site the applicant is advised 

to contact Southern Water, Southern House, Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, 
Hampshire, SO21 2SW (Telephone: 0330 303 0119) or 
www.southernwater.co.uk. 
  

  
 
407. PLANNING APPEALS AND DELEGATED DECISIONS  
 
The Committee noted the report.  

  
 
 
 

(The Chair declared the meeting closed at. 6.28 pm) 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



5 The Green
St Leonards-on-sea
TN38 0SY

Demolition of existing outbuilding and proposed extension with
associated parking and landscaping. Change of use from 
HMO (Sui Generis) to 11 flats (C3).

GILLSMANS HILL

TH
E G

RE
EN

LIME

SO
UT

HW
OO

D C
LO

SE

Lauriston Nursing Home

Terrace

1 to 17

Ooty

She
lter

Satori
Chieveley Cottages

House

Kaieteur

Oak

Cottage

1

4

3

68

2

29

45

47

5

30

1a

10

31

46

70

44

28

40

9

8

Simar

Lime

Coach House

8
4

3

4

3

45

1

4

1

2

4

3

1

1

2

46

© Crown Copyright and database rights [2023]. OS [100021328]

Apr 2023

HS/FA/22/00264
1:1,250

±

Planning Services Manager
Hastings Borough Council,
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place,
Hastings TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451090
email: planning@hastings.gov.uk
Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial 
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available. 
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form.  Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Date:
Scale:
Application No. 

0 10 20 30 40
Meters

Page 9

Agenda Item 5a



This page is intentionally left blank



AGENDA ITEM NO: 5 (a)

Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting: 19 April 2023

Report from: Planning Services Manager

Application address: 5 The Green, St Leonards-on-sea, TN38 0SY

Proposal: Demolition of existing outbuilding and
proposed extension with associated parking
and landscaping. Change of use from HMO (Sui
Generis) to 11 flats (C3).

Application No: HS/FA/22/00264

Recommendation: Grant Full Planning Permission

Ward: GENSING 2018
Conservation Area: No
Listed Building: No

Applicant: Miss Tyas per Baker Architectural Ltd 29 Stirling
Road Castleham Business Centre East  St.
Leonards-on-Sea, East Sussex. TN38 9NP

Public Consultation
Site notice: Yes
Press advertisement: Yes - General Interest Amended Plans
Neighbour Letters: No
People objecting: 83
Petitions of objection received: 0
People in support: 0
Petitions of support received: 0
Neutral comments received: 0

Application status:  Not delegated - 5 or more letters of objection
received

1. Site and surrounding area
Site location is central to St Leonards on Sea. The site itself is comprised of a large
traditionally detached residential dwelling that is now used as an HMO, although this has not
resulted in any significant changes to the character of the original dwelling. The building has
previously been extended to the side with the addition of what appears to be a 1970s/1980s
single storey flat roof extension. The surrounding area is largely comprised of large detachedPage 11



dwellings in an early 1900s architectural style, however immediately to the north east of the
site is a new infill contemporary detached dwelling, creating a mixture of different styles in
the immediate surrounding of the site.

The site has an existing low stone wall defining the front boundary with existing vehicular and
pedestrian access points. The remaining site boundaries are bounded by existing garden
brick walls.

The site falls the south east side of The Green which is a relatively busy class C road. The
surrounding area is largely comprised of large, detached dwellings.

Constraints
GCN District Licensing Scheme RED
GCN District Licensing Scheme 250m Pond Buffer
SSSI Impact Risk Zone
Scotia Gas Network Intermediate Pressure Pipeline 50m Buffer
Potentially within an Area of Surface Water Flooding (1 in 100 yearly chance) Environment
Agency
Potentially within an Area of Surface Water Flooding (1 in 1000 yearly chance) Environment
Agency

2. Proposed development
The application seeks full planning permission for a change of use and internal alterations to
the existing HMO to form 5 flats, the demolition of the existing single storey side extension
and a new two and a half storey extension. The proposed new extension would provide an
additional six private flats resulting in a total of eleven flats being provided. The new flats will
have access to a communal rear garden and a landscaped open front driveway.

The proposal will use the existing driveway for access to the property. The drive will be
constructed from a permeable material. The front boundary will remain as existing excluding
alterations required to widen the access to the site.

The proposal provides 9 parking spaces. Included in this provision is one disabled parking
space and two standard spaces with electric charging points. The inclusion of 9 parking
spaces would be the same provision as the existing site.

The proposal includes a new area for communal cycle parking to the rear of the existing
building and a communal bin store located within the front driveway.

The application is supported by the following documents:
Design and Access statement
Daylight/sunlight assessment
Surface Water Drainage strategy
Waste Statement

Relevant planning history

Application No. HS/FA/79/00494
Description
Change of use to Old Peoples Home.
Decision Permission with conditions on 22/08/79

Page 12



Application No. HS/FA/79/00627
Description
Alterations to convert dwelling into Old Peoples' Home (approved under reference No.
79/494)
Decision Permission with conditions on 27/09/79

Application No. HS/FA/86/00209
Description
Conversion of garage to laundry room
Decision Permission with conditions on 28/05/86

Application No. HS/FA/02/00497
Description
ERECTION OF 3 STOREY EXTENSION AND CONSERVATORY
Decision Permission with conditions on 12/09/02

Application No. HS/FA/09/00623
Description
Three storey residential care home extension to link properties and a conservatory
Decision Permission with conditions on 23/12/09

Application No. HS/CD/11/00551
Description
Discharge of conditions 2, 3, 8 and 10 of Planning Permissions HS/FA/09/00623
Decision Permission with conditions on 19/09/11

Application No. HS/FA/18/00958
Description
Change of use from Care Home (C2) to a large HMO (Sui Generis)
Decision Permission with conditions on 07/03/19

Application No. HS/CD/19/00733
Description
Discharge of condition 5 (Cycle Storage) of planning permission HS/FA/18/00958 -
Change of use from Care Home (C2) to a large HMO (Sui Generis)
Decision Permission with conditions on 28/10/19

National and local policies
Hastings Local Plan – Planning Strategy 2014

Policy FA2 - Strategic Policy for Central Area
Policy SC1 - Overall Strategy for Managing Change in a Sustainable Way

Hastings Local Plan – Development Management Plan 2015

Policy LP1 - Considering planning applications
Policy DM1 - Design Principles
Policy DM3 - General Amenity
Policy DM4 - General Access
Policy DM5 - Ground Conditions

Page 13



Revised Draft Local Plan (Regulation 18)

Policy OSP1 - Tackling Climate Change
Policy SP1 - Directing Growth
Policy SP2 - New and Affordable Housing
Policy SP8 - Transport Infrastructure
Policy DP1 - Design - Key Principles
Policy DP2 - Design - Space and Accessibility Standards
Policy DP3 - Sustainable Design
Policy DP4 - Flood Risk and Water Quality
Policy DP5 - Biodiversity
Policy DP6 - Green Infrastructure
Policy DP7 - Access, Servicing and Parking
Policy DP8 - Planning Obligations

Other policies/guidance
National Design Guide
Air quality and emissions mitigation guidance for Sussex (2021) [If Relevant]
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Paragraph 8 sets out the three overarching objectives of the planning system in order to
achieve sustainable development. Those are: economic (by ensuring that sufficient land of
the right type is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth and
innovation); social (to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a
sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and
future generations; and by fostering well-designed, beautiful and safe places, with accessible
services and open spaces that reflect current and future needs and support communities'
health, social and cultural well-being;); and environmental (to protect and enhance our
natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of land, improving
biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating
and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low carbon economy)

Paragraph 9 advises that plans and decisions need to take local circumstances into account,
so they respond to the different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in
different areas.

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development.
For decision-taking this means:
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan

without delay; or
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most

important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:
i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular

importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or
ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the

benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states that the development plan is the starting point for
decision-making. Where a planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development
plan, permission should not usually be granted. Local planning authorities may take
decisions that depart from an up-to-date development plan, but only if material
considerations in a particular case indicate that the plan should not be followed.

Paragraph 47 of the NPPF sets out that planning applications be determined in accordance
Page 14



with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Paragraph 120 of the NPPF states, amongst other things, that decisions should promote and
support the development of under utilised land and buildings, especially if this would help
meet identified needs for housing where land supply is constrained and available sites could
be used more effectively.

Paragraph 123 of the NPPF states that Local planning authorities should take a positive
approach to applications for alternative uses of land which is currently developed but not
allocated for a specific purpose in plans, where this would help to meet identified
development needs. In particular, they should support proposals to:
c) use retail and employment land for homes in areas of high housing demand, provided this

would not undermine key economic sectors or sites or the vitality and viability of town
centres, and would be compatible with other policies in this Framework; and

d) make more effective use of sites that provide community services such as schools and
hospitals, provided this maintains or improves the quality of service provision and access
to open space.

Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should support development that
makes efficient use of land.

Paragraph 130 of the NPPF requires that decisions should ensure developments:
Function well;
Add to the overall quality of the area for the lifetime of that development;
Are visually attractive in terms of

Layout
Architecture
Landscaping

Are sympathetic to local character/history whilst not preventing change or innovation;
Maintain a strong sense of place having regard to

Building types
Materials
Arrangement of streets

in order to create an attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit.
Optimise the potential of the site to accommodate an appropriate number and mix of
development;
create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and
well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where crime
and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community
cohesion and resilience.

Paragraph 131 of the NPPF states that decisions should ensure new streets are tree lined,
that opportunities are taken to incorporate trees elsewhere in developments.

Paragraph 134 of the NPPF states that development that is not well designed should be
refused but that significant weight should be given to development that reflects local design
policies and government guidance on design and development of outstanding or innovative
design which promotes high levels of sustainability and raises the standard of design in the
area, provided they fit with the overall form and layout of their surroundings.

Paragraph 135 of the NPPF seeks to ensure that the quality of an approved development is
not materially diminished between permission and completion through changes to the
permitted scheme.

Page 15



Paragraph 183 of the NPPF states that decisions should ensure a site is suitable for its
proposed use having regard to ground conditions and risks arising from land instability and
contamination.

Paragraph 184 of the NPPF sets out that where sites are affected by land stability or
contamination, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or
landowner.

Paragraph 185 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure that new
development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including
cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as
well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from
the development. In doing so they should: a) mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential
adverse impacts resulting from noise from new development - and avoid noise giving rise to
significant adverse impacts on health and the quality of life; b) identify and protect tranquil
areas which have remained relatively undisturbed by noise and are prized for their
recreational and amenity value for this reason; and c) limit the impact of light pollution from
artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and nature conservation.

3. Consultation comments
ESCC Highways - No objection
HBC Housing Officer - No objection
HBC Environmental Health - No objection
SSE Water - No objection
ESCC SUDS – No objection
ESCC Infrastructure contributions – No objection (contributions not required at this scale)
HBC Waste Services – No objection
HBC Ecology – No objection
NatureSpace - No objection

4. Representations
In respect of this application a site notice was displayed in a prominent location outside of
the application property and an advert placed in the local paper.

83 letters of objection have been received raising the following concerns:
Overdevelopment
Out of character with surrounding area
Parking layout, under provision and overspill parking
Daylighting/sunlighting
Noise and disturbance
Overbearing
Overshadowing
Loss of privacy
Traffic 
Highways safety
Flooding and drainage
Pollution
Impact upon local services
Refuse and waste storage
Impact upon heritage
Loss of large family home
Affordable housing

Page 16



Unit sizes 
Contrary to policy
Loss of green space

5. Determining issues

a) Principle
Policy LP1 of the Hastings Local Plan - Development Management Plan 2015, paragraph 4.3
of the Hastings Local Plan – Planning Strategy 2014 and paragraph 11 of the NPPF set out a
presumption in favour of sustainable development. There is history of approved development
at this site in the form of application HS/FA/09/00623 which sought a three storey extension
to link Nos 5 and 6 the green to create a residential care home. As such, officers consider
that a combination of the location of the development within the development plan boundary
which is located in a sustainable location with reasonable/good access to public transport,
shops, services and facilities and that the site has a history of approved development
demonstrates that the proposal would be acceptable in principle.

ai) 5 Year Housing Land Supply
Para. 11 of the NPPF states that decision taking should be based on the approval of
development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay.

Para. 120 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that substantial weight
should be given to the value of using suitable brownfield land within settlements for homes
and other identified needs. Development of under-utilised land and buildings should be
promoted and supported.

National Planning Policy Framework Paragraphs 7 and 8 state that there are three
dimensions to sustainable development: economic, social and environmental. The social role
of the planning system should support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing
the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by
creating a high-quality built environment, with accessible local services that reflect the
community's needs and support its health, social and cultural wellbeing.

The Economic objective is helping to build a strong, responsive economy and ensuring that
the right types of sufficient land are available in the right places, and the environmental
objective making efficient and effective use of land to improve the environment.

Development proposals that accord with an up-to-date Development Plan should be
approved and where a planning application conflicts with an up-to-date Development Plan,
permission should not usually be granted (Paragraph 12).

Section 5 of the Framework sets out policies aimed at delivering a sufficient supply of houses
and maintaining the supply to a minimum of five years' worth (Paragraph 73).

Policy DS1 (New Housing Development) states that in the period between 2011 and 2028, a
minimum of 3,400 net additional dwellings will be provided in the plan area (this is the
equivalent of approximately 200 net additional dwellings per annum).

Since its introduction through the NPPF in 2018, local housing need is calculated using a
standard method contained within Planning Practice Guidance.  As such this is a government
initiative that sets the framework within which local housing need is assessed. The standard
method uses a formula to identify the minimum number of homes expected to be planned
for, in a way which addresses projected household growth and historic under-supply. The

Page 17



Governmental standard method for calculating the objectively assessed housing need
identifies a housing requirement for the Borough of 454 new homes each year. In the
absence of a five-year housing land supply this has been increased to 481 under the housing
delivery test as published in the LPMR of 2020/21. The Council is presently falling
significantly short of this requirement and cannot presently demonstrate five years of housing
land supply.

The Joint Local Plan (Hastings Planning Strategy and Development Management Plan)
pre-dates the NPPF and in accordance with para 11d of the Framework, the policies of the
core strategy should be given due weight according to their degree of consistency with the
Framework (the closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater
the weight that may be given). In the case of the old housing targets within Policy DS1 these
would be considered to be out of date in accordance with footnote 8 of paragraph 11d of the
NPPF and limited weight should be given. Therefore, the housing targets which are most
relevant and will be given substantial weight in the decision-making process are those targets
set out in the 'Government's standard method' (481 dwellings per year).

Given the use of the Governments standard method for calculating housing need has
derived a figure significantly greater than the previous position, this will have a direct impact
upon the land available to meet this inflated need.  The Council currently has a supply of
deliverable housing land equivalent to 2.67 years. This means that the local plan policies that
are most important for determining an application carry less weight, and the NPPF's
paragraph 11d will apply to decision making for housing applications.

The site is in close proximity to local facilities and public transport route. Access to local road
and main distributor roads is good and the site is accessible by foot, car and public transport.

The proposed development seeks to provide 11 residential units in place of an existing HMO.
The governments Housing Delivery Test Measurement Rulebook sets out that for communal
accommodation the calculation for the number of units provided should be the number of
bedrooms divided by the average household size in England. Given that census data sets
out that the average household size is 1.8 people per dwelling, the existing HMO represents
a contribution of 6.1 units to housing land supply (11 bedrooms / 1.8) and therefore the
scheme represents a net gain of 4.9 residential units on site. The loss of the HMO would not
be resisted in principle as it is currently an existing form of residential accommodation.
Therefore, given the councils significant lack of housing land supply the provision of 5
additional units is considered to be a benefit of the scheme and this will be weighed
accordingly in the planning balance.

b) Impact on character and appearance of the area
Policy DM1 of the Hastings Development Management Plan states that all proposals must
reach a good standard of design, which includes efficient use of resources, and shows
appreciation of the surrounding neighbourhood's historic context, street patterns, plot layouts
and boundaries, block sizes and scale, height, massing and materials as well as good
performance against nationally recognised best practice guidance on sustainability, urban
design and place-making, architectural quality and distinctiveness.

This is supported by Point (c) of Policy DM3 of the development Management Plan, which
states that, in order to achieve a good living standard for future users of proposed
development and its neighbours it should be demonstrated that amenity has been
considered and appropriate solutions have been incorporated into schemes. Permission will
be given for development where there is a means of landscaping that contributes to crime
prevention, a permeable and legible green infrastructure network of routes and spaces to
create a public realm that is attractive, overlooked and safe.

Page 18



The proposal would result in the creation of a large two and a half storey side extension with
a lower ground floor at the rear due to the topography of the site. The extension would be a
similar size and scale to the original dwelling. Whilst it is ordinarily out of character to build
large extensions which would double the footprint of a property, the surrounding area is
comprised of many dwellings which extend to both boundaries of their plot width. The
proposed extension would be set in from the boundary of the neighbouring property by
approximately one metre, and the space left between the side elevation as extended and no
6 The Green (1m) would be sufficient to mitigate any potential future terracing effect. The
space left between properties would be similar to that found in the immediate locality. Whilst
officers recognise that the proposal would be a large structure within the street scene,
officers consider that due to the size of the plot the principle of extending towards the
boundary would not be unacceptable.

The principle of large extensions to the property is established by HS/FA/09/00623 which
sought to adjoin both Nos 5 and 6 The Green to create a residential care home, however this
was never implemented. The proposed extension would be of a bulk and massing, which
would be similar to that of the main dwelling with similar eaves height, ridge height and front
building lines and as such, would not be subordinate to the existing property. Given the
building is a large, detached property it is considered to be accepted in principle that the
extension would be designed to appear as an integral feature of the property as opposed to
subordinate to it, in order to create a coherent appearance to the building. The buildings
would have a setback in the centre which clearly defines the two halves of the building as the
existing structure and the extension. However, given their similar scales this would create the
appearance of the building as having two wings and create an element of symmetry between
the existing and proposed elements of the scheme. Overall, the bulk and massing of the
proposal is considered to be accepted in principle and would not be out of character with the
existing property and would create a coherent appearance from the streetscene.

The proposed extension would have a fenestration pattern which matches the original
dwelling with window styles, patterns and locations that would be in keeping with the
character of the original dwelling. The exterior would be facing brickwork and would have
Mock Tudor fenestration detailing in the proposed gable end roof in order to be in keeping
with the existing property. Whilst the general fenestration pattern would match the main
dwelling, the proposal would clearly be separated by the front setback between the two
properties and would also include a large front facing hipped roof form with glazing facing the
street. Whilst the front gable would be more modern in appearance than the existing
property, it would respectfully integrate with the building and rather than attempt to be an
imitation of the original property would be an architectural feature in of itself and would not be
considered detract from the overall aesthetic of the property. Officers consider that although
the two elements of the building would be clearly defined, the proposed extension would be
considered to positively contribute to the appearance of the building as an architectural
feature and would demonstrate how the structure has changed from the existing structure
into the proposed extension to the building.

To the rear of the property the windows and the extension would appear more modern than
the existing property. However, this would not be in view of the streetscene and would
therefore contribute little to the appearance and character of the area. As such the rear
elevation would not be considered unacceptable in this case.

The front and rear curtilage of the property would be relatively unchanged and would retain
much of the existing parking and rear garden. The scheme includes soft landscaping at the
front of the property and would largely retain this existing boundary wall excluding the
widening of the access. The soft landscaping at the property clearly represents an

Page 19



opportunity to further soften the impact of the proposal from the streetscene whilst at the rear
there is further opportunity for associated benefits in the form of introducing high biodiversity
value planting. As such conditions 6 and 8 will be attached to any approval requiring a
landscaping plan to be submitted and approved by the council.

Overall, the application represents a significant increase in the scale of the existing dwelling
to create a total of 11 flats. This would include the widening of the main building to be within
one metre of the boundary and the creation of a large extension to create the appearance of
a second wing to the building. Whilst the extension would retain many of the architectural
features of the original property, it would stand as a building in its own right and would not be
considered to be a simple imitation of the original property. The scale of the building although
large would not be out of keeping with the streetscene in which most properties are built
within close proximity of the plot boundary. The building would largely retain the existing front
boundary wall and would include some soft landscaping as a buffer to the parking area and
main buildings. Therefore, officers consider that the design of the proposed development
would be acceptable and would represent a significant yet characteristically sensitive addition
to the site.

c) Impact on neighbouring residential amenities
The proposed development would be built up to the boundary of No. 6 the Green and would
be approximately 2 and a half storeys in height at the front elevation. The neighbouring
building,  No. 6, is removed from the mutual side boundary although it does include a single
storey extension which abuts the boundary. The extension to the property is described in the
neighbouring properties objection submission to be a workshop which would not be
considered to be a habitable room and therefore the loss of light to the front and rear
windows of the workshop would not warrant the refusal of the application.  Furthermore, the
application property is located on the northern side of the workshop which limits the extent of
the loss of light to these windows and would not be considered to detrimentally harm
neighbouring amenity in this regard.

The main habitable window which would be affected by the proposal is the side facing
window at ground floor level on the northeast elevation of No. 6 The Green and would be
approximately 7.5 metres from the proposed extension. The applicant has supplied a
daylight/sunlight assessment which demonstrates that whilst the room to which this window
relates will suffer some loss of light, this loss would not detrimentally impact the light levels to
a point that would warrant the refusal of the application. Notwithstanding this, this same room
also benefits from a bay window and therefore the room would benefit from sufficient
daylight.

The extension to the property would not project beyond the rear of no. 6 The Green,
although officers do recognise that the owner/occupier of No. 6 does reference the fact that
the angle of the property in relation to no. 6 does not prohibit any overshadowing,
overbearing or sense of enclosure resulting from the proposal. Whilst officers recognise that
the erection of a large extension at No. 5 would result in some increased sense of
overbearing from the existing situation, this increase would not detrimentally impact the
ability of the owner/occupier at No. 6 from the use and enjoyment of their private amenity
space or habitable rooms.

The proposal includes rear, front and side facing windows. Whilst the rear facing windows
would be located closer to the neighbouring property than the existing situation, these
windows would not result in what would be considered above ordinary overlooking to the rear
garden of no. 6 The Green and in addition would be set in excess of 60 metres from the rear
boundary of the garden at No. 5 The Green, therefore mitigating any unacceptable
overlooking to properties on Clinton Crescent.  The proposed side facing windows on the

Page 20



south west elevation of the property would represent a risk of overlooking however, the plans
indicate that these windows would all be obscurely glazed to mitigate any unacceptable
overlooking impacts. Condition 18 is attached which requires all new side elevation windows
to be obscure glazed and fixed shut. The front facing windows would not directly overlook
any private amenity space nor would they be located in close enough proximity to properties
on the western side of The Green to give rise to any unacceptable direct overlooking.

The original dwelling will remain relatively unchanged by virtue of this planning applicant and
as such, overlooking, overshadowing, daylighting/sunlighting and overbearing will be
relatively unchanged to No. 4a The Green. Notwithstanding this the original property does
include side facing windows towards No. 4a however, these windows are existing and
currently serve habitable rooms and as such, it would be unreasonable to restrict these
windows given that they are an existing feature of the property.

Overall, the proposed development would not be considered to result in any unacceptable
harm to the residential amenity of any neighbouring properties in terms of overbearing,
overshadowing or daylighting/sunlighting and would be acceptable in this regard. 

d) Living standards of future occupiers

Internal Floorspace:
The proposal has been assessed against the Technical Housing Space Standards as
produced by the Department for Communities and Local Government. This document sets
out the minimum floor space requirements for residential units. The Technical Housing
Space Standards state that the requirements for a one storey, one bedroom unit is 39-50m,
one storey, two bedroom unit is 61-70m², a two storey, three bedroom unit is 84-102m². The
proposed units meet these requirements and as such are considered acceptable. The
individual rooms have also been individually assessed and also meet the relevant size
requirements. Taking this into account, it is considered that the proposed development is
acceptable and would provide an acceptable level of internal living accommodation.

External Amenity Space:
Point (g) of Policy DM3 of the Hastings DM Plan states that appropriate levels of private
external space are included, especially for larger homes designed for family use (dwellings
with two or more bedrooms). In respect of proposed family dwellings the Council would
expect to see the provision of private garden space (normally at the rear), of at least 10
metres in length. The proposal includes 11 flats, flats do not have a requirement for private
amenity space within policy DM3. However, the proposal includes a large rear garden which
will be used as communal rear amenity space for the properties. Given that there is no
requirement within the local plan for amenity space for flats the provision of communal
amenity space is considered to be a benefit of the scheme and this is therefore considered
to be acceptable

e) Flooding and drainage
Paragraph 167 of the NPPF states that when determining any planning applications, local
planning authorities should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere and where
appropriate, applications should be supported by a site-specific flood-risk assessment.

This application is a brownfield site and therefore drainage matters are an important
consideration. Policy SC7 of the Hastings Local Plan – Planning Strategy 2014 states that
the Council will support development proposals that avoid areas of current or future flood
risk, and those that do not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere.

Page 21



In support of the application the applicant has submitted a Surface Water Drainage Strategy
produced by MONSON which sets out that a 6.0m x 3.0m x 0.8m attenuation storage tank
can be employed on site to offset the increased drainage issues on site at a peak discharge
rate on 2.0l/s. ESCC Flood Risk Team and Southern Water have confirmed that these
discharge rates are acceptable and have recommended conditions (nos 5, 6 and 8) should
the application be approved.

Given the above, it is considered that a development as proposed complies with Policy SC7
of the Hastings Planning Strategy 2014 and Policy DM6 of the Hastings Development
Management Plan 2015.

f) Ecology
Policy HN8 of the Hastings DM plan requires that an Ecological Constraints and
Opportunities Plan (ECOP), completed by a suitably qualified professional, will be required to
support planning applications where on-site or nearby ecological constraints are known, or
where further information on potential ecological issues is required. The proposed
development is an extension to an existing dwelling and would not be situated in a location
that would be nearby to any protected species or habitats as set out within DEFRA’s MAGIC
protected species map, nor are the proposed works considered to constitute a form of
development that would be likely to harm any protected species. As such there are no
significant concerns regarding the impact upon ecology at this site.

The development includes a rear garden which will be shared between properties and has
communal access. This area presents an opportunity to implement biodiversity net gain as
set out within para 174 of the NPPF. As such a condition will be attached (no 7) to any
permission which requires that a soft landscaping plan is submitted demonstrating the
inclusion of high biodiversity value planting in order to secure biodiversity net gain at the site.
Subject to this condition (7) there are no unacceptable impacts upon ecology resulting from
the proposal.

Impact on Great Crested Newts:
The development falls within the red impact risk zone for Great Crested Newts (GCN).
However, the development would be built over an existing structure and would not result in
any significant loss greenspace or potential habitats for GCN. As such, the proposal is
considered to be acceptable and would not unduly harm GCN. The proposal is therefore
considered to be acceptable in this case. An informative note 3 is added in the event that
protected species are found during construction works, advising development should cease.

g) Environmental health 

Air quality and emissions
The proposed development falls within the screening checklist 1 of the 'Air Quality and
Emission Mitigation Guidance for Sussex' 2020 produced by Sussex Air Quality Partnership.
The proposal does not propose an increase in parking provision on site and as such
emissions in this respect would remain as existing. However, a condition (no 11) will be
attached to any permission which requires an emissions mitigation assessment to be
submitted to and approved by the council. Environmental Health Officers have no objection
in this respect.

Lighting
No excessive external lighting is proposed, and residential amenities are not harmfully
affected. Condition 16 is attached to require that any external lighting will be shielded and
angled so that there is limited impact in terms of light pollution or impact on neighbouring or
future residential amenities. The development will not give rise to ground or surface water

Page 22



pollutions. The development is therefore in accordance with Policy DM6 of the Hastings
Development Management Plan (2015). Environmental Health Officers have no objection in
this respect.

h) Highway safety/parking
Chapter 9 of the NPPF relates to the promotion of sustainable transport. Paragraph 108 sets
out that in assessing applications for development, it should be ensured that appropriate
opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be, or have been, taken up and
that safe and suitable access to the Site can be achieved for all users.

Paragraph 111 of the NPPF sets out that development should only be prevented or refused
on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.

ESCC Highways Authority have no objections to the proposed development following
amendments to the layout of the site parking and access.

Access:
The application site is currently served by a single access from The Green and the
application proposes to widen the existing access to 4.8 metres in width to allow two vehicles
to pass each other when entering and exiting the site. The layout of the parking area has
been assessed by ESCC highways who have confirmed that the layout would be acceptable
to allow access and egress from the site safely.

Parking:
In accordance with the County Council’s residential parking guidance each dwelling is
required to have 9 car parking spaces. The proposal has provided 9 parking spaces on site
including one disabled parking space and two electric vehicle charging points.

It is considered that the application has satisfactorily demonstrated that the development as
proposed can provide acceptable car parking for future users and as such in compliance with
the provisions of Policy DM4 of the Hastings Development Management Plan 2015 and the
East Sussex County Council residential car parking guidance 2017. This is secured by
condition no 17

Cycle parking is provided at the rear of the properties and would provide enough spaces for
11 cycles. The cycle storage, location and provision has been assessed by ESCC highways
and is considered to be acceptable. However, details of the storage facilities have not been
included within the submitted plans. As such these details will be required to be submitted via
condition (no 12).

ESCC have requested that the applicant ensures that the scheme would not result in an
increase in runoff onto the highway. As such, a condition (no 9) will be attached to any
permission which requires details demonstrating that surface water runoff would not be
directed to the public highway. Subject to this condition (9) there are no drainage concerns
from a highways perspective.

Access for Emergency Vehicles:
In accordance with building regulation requirement B5 (2000) as indicated within the Manual
for Streets, there should be a vehicle access for pump appliances within 45m of every
dwelling and a fire service vehicle (FSV) should not have to reverse more than 20m.

According to the Manual for Streets a 3.7m carriage way is needed, however, this can be
reduced to 2.75 over short distances. ESCC Highways Engineers have reviewed thePage 23



submitted vehicle tracking details and have raised no objections regarding the safety of the
access for emergency vehicles.

i) refuse and cycle storage
Part H of the Building Regulations sets out that waste containers should be sited so that
residents do not have to push the container more than 30m to an accessible collection point,
so any collection points for bins should be within that distance.

The properties have been provided with communal waste and recycling storage at the front
of the properties. The waste and Refuse Team have reviewed the proposal and are satisfied
a refuse vehicle can access the properties, and they also advise that they are satisfied with
the location of bins for collection.

The owner/occupiers of the properties have been provided with space to store bicycles within
the communal rear garden of the property. There is a side passageway which enables rear
access for owner/occupiers to the rear cycle storge. These details are considered to be
satisfactory and this has been confirmed as acceptable by ESCC Highway’s response.

Details of the storage lockers for both cycles and refuse has not been provided. As such,
conditions (nos 12 and 15) requiring details of cycle and refuse storage will be attached to
any permission requiring that these details are submitted to and approved prior to occupation
of the development. Subject to these conditions the refuse and cycle storage details are
considered acceptable.

j) Sustainability
Paragraph 8 of the NPPF sets out that there are three strands to achieving sustainable
development, including an environmental objective. This is for development to contribute to
protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment; including making
effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including
moving to a low carbon economy.

Paragraph's 10 and 11 of the NPPF state that at the heart of the Framework is a
presumption in favour of sustainable development.

Paragraph 148 of the NPPF states that the planning system should support the transition to
a low carbon future in a changing climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal
change. It should help to: shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in
greenhouse gas emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve resilience; and support
renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure.

Paragraph 149 of the NPPF states that plans should take a proactive approach to mitigating
and adapting to climate change, taking into account the long-term implications for flood risk,
coastal change, water supply, biodiversity and landscapes, and the risk of overheating from
rising temperatures.

Any new dwelling would need to incorporate the maximum feasible amount of renewable
energy, and water and energy efficiency measures and equipment an any such features will
be welcomed. A condition (no 11) will be attached to any approval which requires details of
sustainability measures on site to be submitted to the Council and approved in writing.

Subject to the implementation of appropriate conditions (11) the proposal is considered to be
acceptable in terms of sustainability and climate change.

Page 24



k) Affordable housing and other contributions
Policy H3 of the Hastings Planning Strategy refers to affordable housing and requires that all
residential proposals on previously developed land and comprised of up to 14 dwellings will
provide at least 20% of the net units proposed as affordable where viable. As a result, the
requirement of affordable housing for this site would be 2.2 units.

Since March 2022 25% of affordable housing is required to be first homes. As such the
tenure split of this application has been adjusted accordingly to include 25% first homes, and
the remainder of the affordable housing provision has been agreed by the Council's Housing
Development Manager in order to ensure that the offer responds to market conditions in
accordance with Policy H3. Given the requirement for first homes this unit will be rounded up
to a whole unit in order to ensure its provision.

Therefore, the applicant has indicated that one dwelling would be provided as a first home
and the remaining 1.2 units will be provided as a commuted sum of approximately £115,200.
HBC’s Housing Officer has reviewed the proposed provision and is satisfied with the
affordable housing provision given the difficulty of locating registered providers that are
willing to take custody of single affordable units. As such, this provision will be secured as
part of an S106 agreement should the scheme be approved.

6. Conclusion
The proposal seeks to deliver a net gain of 4.9 residential units taking into account the
existing HMO. Given the councils lack of a 5 year housing land supply and under provision of
housing, infill developments such as this play a vital role in contributing towards housing
provision. However, given the scale of the housing deficit the contribution of 4.9 units
although a significant number of dwellings would be a minor contribution towards housing
delivery. Therefore, this is considered to carry moderate weight in favour of the development.

Affordable housing would be provided to policy compliant levels. However given the relatively
minor contribution of 2.2 units to local affordable housing stock this would carry moderate
positive weight in the planning balance.

The proposed development would be a large extension to an existing building. Whilst a large
addition to the property the design, scale and massing of the proposal would not be
considered to unduly harm the character and appearance of the surrounding area, which is
comprised of a mix of dwelling styles and sizes. Overall, the proposed design would be
considered to be acceptable.

The proposed development would be located approximately 1 metre from the boundary of
No. 6 The Green. Although a large extension by reason of its siting and location, the
proposed development would not be considered to unduly harm the amenities of the
neighbouring property in terms of loss of daylight/sunlight nor would it project beyond the
rear building line of the neighbouring property to a degree that it would unduly harm the
amenity of the neighbouring property in terms of overbearing, overlooking or overshadowing.
This is therefore considered to be acceptable and would bear neutral weight in the planning
balance.

The proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of its highways and flooding impacts
and environmental health impacts and this therefore bear neural weight in the planning
balance.

Page 25



Overall, the scheme proposes benefits in terms of the provision of housing and affordable
housing whilst representing sustainable development and is therefore recommended for
approval.

Therefore, these proposals comply with the Development Plan in accordance with Section 38
(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which states:

"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be
made under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise”.

The Human Rights considerations have been taken into account fully in balancing the
planning issues.

7. Recommendation
A) That the Planning Services Manager be authorised to issue planning permission upon
completion of an agreement under S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act to secure:

The provision of 1 residential units as a First Home
The provision of a commuted sum for 1.2 units of affordable housing of approximately
£115,200

unless it has been conclusively shown that the development would not be viable and it would
still be acceptable in planning terms without the identified development
contributions/infrastructure.

In the event that the Agreement is not completed by 28 july 2022, that the application be
refused on the grounds that it does not comply with the relevant policies (Policies H3) of the
Hastings Local Plan, The Hastings Planning Strategy 2011-2028 or the Hastings Local Plan,
Development Management Plan unless an extension of time has been agreed in writing by
the Planning Services Manager in consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of the Planning
Committee.

 B) Subject to the above

Grant Full Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.

2. With the exception of internal works the building works required to carry out
the development allowed by this permission must only be carried out within
the following times:-
08.00 - 18.00 Monday to Friday
08.00 - 13.00 on Saturdays
No working on Sundays or Public Holidays.

3. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved plans.

Page 26



4. The use hereby permitted shall not commence until details of the layout of
the reconstructed access and the specification for the construction of the
access have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning
Authority and the use hereby permitted shall not commence until the
construction of the access has been completed in accordance with the
specification set out on Form HT407 which is attached to and forms part of
this permission.

5. The proposed development shall be carried out in accordance with the
submitted Surface Water Drainage Strategy (SuDS, RevA). These details
shall be retained and maintained thereafter.  

Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved the following
details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA in
consultation with ESCC SUDS:

Detailed drainage drawings and calculations demonstrating that surface
water runoff from the proposed development shall be limited to 2 litres
per second. Surface water attenuation up to and including storms with a
1 in 100 (plus climate change) annual probability of occurrence shall be
stored with onsite or downstream flooding. Evidence of this (in the form
hydraulic calculations) shall be submitted with the detailed drainage
drawings.

Details of the outfall connection to the public sewer should be provided
as part of the detailed drainage drawings, including approval from the
Statutory Sewage Undertaken.

Information on how surface water flows exceeding the capacity of the
surface water drainage features will be managed safely.

A maintenance and management plan which shall clearly state who will
be responsible for managing all aspects of the surface water drainage
system, including piped drains, and the appropriate authority should be
satisfied with the submitted details. Evidence that these responsibility
arrangements will remain in place through the lifetime of the
development shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority.

The approved details shall be implemented prior to occupation of the
development. These details shall be retained and maintained thereafter.  

6. Prior to occupation of the development, evidence (including photographs)
should be submitted showing that the drainage system has been
constructed as per the final agreed detailed drainage designs.

7. No development shall take place until there has been submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority a scheme of soft landscaping,
which shall include indications of all existing trees and hedgerows on the
land including details of those to be retained, together with measures for
their protection in the course of development. New soft landscaping details

Page 27



shall include planting plans; written specifications (including cultivation and
other operations associated with plant and grass establishment); schedules
of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities where
appropriate together with an implementation programme.

All trees produced abroad but purchased for transplanting shall spend at
least one full growing season on a UK nursery and be subjected to a pest
and disease control programme. Evidence of this control programme,
together with an audit trail of when imported trees where needed and their
origin and how long they have been in the nursery will be supplied to the
Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any tree planting.

If within a period of five years from the date of the planting of any tree that
tree, or any tree planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted or
destroyed or dies, or becomes, in the opinion of the Local Planning
Authority, seriously damaged or defective, another tree of the same species
and size as that originally planted shall be planted at the same location.

8. All planting seeding or turfing comprised in the approved soft landscaping
scheme shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the
development, or with the written agreement of the Local Planning Authority,
in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of any
buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner.
Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of
the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar
size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent
to any variation.

9. No development above ground shall take place until full details of the hard
landscape works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. These details shall include proposed finished
levels or contours; means of enclosure (fences/walls); car parking layouts;
other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas; bin collection
points, hard surfacing materials; and, proposed and existing functional
services above and below ground (eg drainage, power, communications
cables, pipelines etc. indicating lines, manholes, supports etc).

In addition these details should demonstrate that the proposed surface
water drainage would prevent the discharge of surface water from the
proposed site onto the public highway and, similarly, to prevent the
discharge of surface water from the highway onto the site shall be submitted
to the Local Planning Authority for approval in consultation with the Highway
Authority.

10. All hard landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details to be approved under conditon 8 of this permission.  The
works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the
development or in accordance with the programme agreed with the Local
Planning Authority.

Page 28



11. No development shall commence until a sustainability assessment including
an emissions mitigation plan has been submitted to and approved by the
LPA. These details shall thereafter be retained for the life of the
development unless otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA. 

12. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until full details of
the external storage spaces for cycles have been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the development shall
be completed in accordance with the approved details and retained
thereafter and once provided the cycle storage area shall not be used for
any other purpose other than the storage of cycles.

13. No development shall take place, including any ground works or works of
demolition, until a Construction Traffic Management Plan has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Thereafter the approved Plan shall be implemented and adhered to in full
throughout the entire construction period. The Plan shall provide details as
appropriate but not be restricted to the following matters:

the anticipated number, frequency and types of vehicles used during
construction,
the method of access and egress and routeing of vehicles during
construction,
the parking of vehicles by site operatives and visitors,
the loading and unloading of plant, materials and waste,
the storage of plant and materials used in construction of the
development,
the erection and maintenance of security hoarding,
the provision and utilisation of wheel washing facilities and other works
required to mitigate the impact of construction upon the public highway
details of public engagement both prior to and during construction works.

detailed measures to manage flood risk, both on and off the site, during the
construction phase.

14. No development shall take place above ground until samples of the
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
dwelling hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. Such samples should include bricks, roofing
materials, mortar samples, and samples of all windows and doors and
rainwater goods. Thereafter development shall be carried out and
maintained in accordance with the approved details.

15. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until full details of
the external storage spaces and collection point for refuse bins have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Thereafter the development shall be completed in accordance with the
approved details and once provided the refuse storage area shall not be
used for any other purpose other than the storage of refuse bins and
retained thereafter.

16. Prior to occupation, a "lighting design strategy" shall be submitted to and
Page 29



approved in writing by the local planning authority. The strategy shall:

a) show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the
provision of appropriate lighting contour plans and technical
specifications) so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit
will not unacceptably harm the amenities of neighbouring properties.

All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications
and locations set out in the strategy, and these shall be maintained
thereafter in accordance with the strategy.

17. The development shall not be occupied until the proposed parking
arrangements which have been approved in hardlandscaping condition 8
have been provided in accordance with the approved details prior to the
occupation of the building and shall thereafter be retained and maintained
and would not be used for any purpose other than the parking of vehicles.

18. All windows proposed (Excluding existing windows) on the side elevations of
the development (south west and north east) shall be obscurely glazed and
non-opening up to 1.7 metres from finished floor level. These details shall
thereafter be retained unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

19. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with
waste management details as set out within BA2070 Waste Statement_Mar
22. These details shall thereafter remain in place for the lifetime of the
development unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. 

Reasons:

1. This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 91 of
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2. To safeguard the amenity of adjoining residents.

3. For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

4. To ensure the safety of persons and vehicles entering and leaving the
access and proceeding along the highway

5. To ensure that the proposal would not result in unacceptable flooding and
drainage impacts and to ensure an acceptable form of development.

6. To ensure that the proposal would not result in unacceptable flooding and
drainage impacts and to ensure an acceptable form of development

7. In the interests of the visual amenity of the area.

8. In the interests of the visual amenity of the area.

Page 30



9. To secure a well planned development that functions well and in order to
protect the visual amenities of the locality and to ensure the appropriate
management of surface water on and adjacent to the highway and prevent
an increased risk of flooding

10. To secure a well planned development that functions well and in order to
protect the visual amenities of the locality and to ensure the appropriate
management of surface water on and adjacent to the highway and prevent
an increased risk of flooding

11. To ensure a satisfactory development and in terms of environmental impacts
and sustainability

12. In order that the development site is accessible by non-car modes and to
meet the objectives of sustainable development.

13. In the interests of highway safety and the amenities of the area.

14. In the interests of the visual amenity of the area.

15. In the interests of the visual amenity of the area and to ensure an
acceptable form of development.

16. To ensure a satisfactory design and appearance of the proposal and to
minimise the impact upon the amenities of neighbouring properties.

17. To ensure the safety of persons and vehicles entering and leaving the
access and proceeding along the highway.

18. In order to protect the amenities of neighbouring residential properties 

19. To ensure an acceptable form of development.

Notes to the Applicant

1. Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result
in enforcement action without further warning.

2. Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings
Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive
and proactive manner, in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.

3. The applicant is advised that they must ensure the proposed works, hereby
approved, do not contravene laws protecting wildlife including the
Countryside and Wildlife Act 1981. Where the applicant is in doubt they
should contact Natural England on wildlife@naturalengland.org.uk
Telephone 020 802 61089 or Environment and Natural Resources on
parks@hastings.gov.uk Telephone 01424 451107 prior to commencement
of any works.

4. It is possible that a sewer now deemed to be public could be crossing the
development site. Therefore, should any sewer be found during construction

Page 31



works, an investigation of the sewer will be required to ascertain its
ownership before any further works commence on site.

5. This permission is the subject of an obligation under Section 106 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

6. If during development and excavations any suspicions become evident or
are aroused as to the potential or presence for any contaminated land, then
works should immediately cease and a contaminated land assessment /
ground investigation report be carried out which should then be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the work,
associated with the permission hereby granted, commencing.

7. That applicant is advised that prior to commencement of development
details of the applicant shall establish the exact position of the public water
main.

8. THE AREA HIGHWAY MANAGER WILL REQUIRE NOTICE OF
COMMENCEMENT OF WORKS ON OR ADJACENT TO THE HIGHWAY.
SEE NOTE m).

Notes to be read in conjunction with attached highway comments and
conditions

a) In urban areas the treatment of the radii shall be accordance with the
requirements of the Highway Construction Engineer.

b) Any existing ditch shall be cleaned out to even fall and piped to a size to
accept the maximum flow of water likely to arise (internal diameter
300mm or as agreed with the Highway Construction Engineer).

c) Where an existing access is to be stopped up the applicant is required to
raise the existing dropped kerb and make good the footway/verge and
kerb.

d) Any existing footway shall be made good with similar construction and
surfacing.

e) Where the edge of the carriageway is already defined by Continental
Channel, dropped Continental Channel sections (if available) or concrete
channel blocks shall be used instead of dropped kerbs and if necessary
the transition between the constructions made in in-situ concrete to the
satisfaction of the Highway Construction Engineer.

f) Any gates are to be set back a minimum distance of 5 metres (11 metres
for farm or industrial accesses) from the edge of the carriageway and are
to open away from the highway.

g) The applicant’s attention is drawn to the necessity to ensure that no
surface water is allowed to flow from the development onto the highway
and similarly no surface water from the highway should be allowed to
flow into the site. The provision (by the applicant) of positive drainage
measures may be required to collect any flow of surface water.

Page 32



h) Any necessary alterations to the property or services of, any statutory
authority or undertaker shall be carried out at the expense of the
applicant and under the supervision of such authority or undertaker to
their satisfaction.

i) If the requirements outlined in these details and/or notes conflict with the
requirements of the Fire Officer then the Fire Officer’s requirements shall
prevail.

j) Reference to Sub-Base (Type 1) in the access section diagram refers to
graded granular sub base complying with Clause 803 Specification for
highway works (SHW), Amendment – February 2016.

k) The County Council charges a fee for works on or adjacent to the
highway and will expect you to obtain a licence/ enter into a Private
Works Agreement prior to the commencement of works. For crossovers
(and minor access works) please call 0345 6080193 or email
customer@eastsussexhighways.com For other highway works please
call Transport Development Control on 01273 482254 or email TDC at
developmentcontrol.transport@eastsussex.gov.uk. The Highway
Inspectors require at least 15 days notice of your intention to commence
works under a PWA in order that the necessary utility service checks
may be completed before works commence. Three months notice is
required for major schemes

l) You must ensure that the contractor has ten million pounds public liability
insurance and one of their employees holds a current Supervisors New
Roads and Street Works Act Certificate and at least one operative on
site should hold an Operators Certificate. A list of contractors with the
required certificates is available from East Sussex Highways and the
Transport Development Control (TDC) team.

m) For crossovers (and minor access works) please call 0345 6080193 or
email customer@estsussexhighways.com For other highway works
please call TDC on 01273 482254  or email TDC at
developmentcontrol.transport@eastsussex.gov.uk

n)  If you decide to use one that is not on the list, you must ensure that
copies of the certificates are supplied by the contractor to East Sussex
Highways or the Transport Development Control Team).

o) Your attention is drawn to the fact that your contractor will have to book
road space under the Traffic Management Act 2004. Please ask them to
contact the Network Co-ordination Team on 0845 60 80 193 who will
need at least 21 days notice of the commencement of works.

_____________________________________________________________________

Page 33



Officer to Contact
 Tom Bagshaw, Telephone 01424 783277

Background Papers
Application No: HS/FA/22/00264 including all letters and documents

Page 34



High Beech Chalet Park, (The Office)
Washington Avenue
St Leonards-on-sea
TN37 7BS

Erection of a 2.2 metres single-storey rear extension (retrospective)

Country Club
The High Beech High Beech Hotel

11

80c

24

27

64

8

73

96

82

21

38

103

62

46

25

44

104

45

83

77

33

22

29

32

23
31

93

66

94

37

52

26

78a

49

81
95

55

56

18

98

72

67

17

63

43

34

30
19

91

36

16

71

61

54

57

79b

74

97

92

89

60

75

70

87

25a
28

59

109

4

58

76
6545

44

49

© Crown Copyright and database rights [2023]. OS [100021328]

Apr 2023

HS/FA/23/00023
1:1,250

±

Planning Services Manager
Hastings Borough Council,
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place,
Hastings TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451090
email: planning@hastings.gov.uk
Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial 
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available. 
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form.  Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Date:
Scale:
Application No. 

0 10 20 30 40
Meters

WASHINGTON AVENUE

EIS
EN

HO
WE

R D
RIV

E

Page 35

Agenda Item 5b



This page is intentionally left blank



AGENDA ITEM NO: 5 (b)

Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting: 19 April 2023

Report from: Planning Services Manager

Application address: High Beech Chalet Park, (The Office),
Washington Avenue, St Leonards-on-sea, TN37
7BS

Proposal: Erection of a single-storey rear extension
(retrospective) (amended description)

Application No: HS/FA/23/00023

Recommendation: Grant Full Planning Permission

Ward: ASHDOWN 2018
Conservation Area: No
Listed Building: No

Applicant: High Beech Chalet Park LTD per D R & J M Bailey
Crossways, The Roundel Old Roar Road  St
Leonards on Sea, East Sussex. TN37 7HD

Public Consultation
Site notice: Yes
Press advertisement: No
Neighbour Letters: No
People objecting: 7
Petitions of objection received: 0
People in support: 1
Petitions of support received: 0
Neutral comments received: 0

Application status:  Not delegated - 5 or more letters of objection
received

1. Site and surrounding area
The application site relates to a building in High Beech Chalet Park known as 'the Office', a
small single-storey structure located near the entrance to the chalet park, opposite the visitor
car park.

Page 37



Constraints

Tree Preservation Order
GCN District Licensing Scheme IRZ - Red
GCN District Licensing Scheme Pond Buffer - 50m.

2. Proposed development
Retrospective application for a single-storey extension to the existing office to provide a WC
and hand basin facility.

Single-storey extension measurements

Height: 2.5 metres
Width: 2.3 metres
Depth: 1.2 metres

Relevant planning history

HS/FA/18/01115 Replace existing timber office with larger office. Granted 31st May 2019.

National and local policies

Hastings Local Plan – Planning Strategy 2014

Policy FA1 - Strategic Policy for Western Area
Policy SC1 - Overall Strategy for Managing Change in a Sustainable Way
Policy EN3 - Nature Conservation and Improvement of Biodiversity

Hastings Local Plan – Development Management Plan 2015

Policy LP1 - Considering planning applications
Policy DM1 - Design Principles
Policy DM3 - General Amenity
Policy HN8 - Biodiversity and Green Space

Other policies/guidance
Supplementary Planning Document - Householder Development: Sustainable Design

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Paragraph 11 sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable development and
states that development proposals which accord with the development plan should be
approved without delay.

Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states that applications for planning permission must be
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. Three dimensions of sustainability given in paragraph 8 are to be sought jointly:
economic (by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places and
at the right time to support growth and innovation); social (providing housing, creating high
quality environment with accessible local services); and environmental (contributing to,
protecting and enhancing natural, built and historic environment) whilst paragraph 9 advises
that plans and decisions need to take local circumstances into account, so they respond to
the different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in different areas.

Page 38



Section 12 of the NPPF sets out the requirement for good design in development. Paragraph
124 states: "The creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the
planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make
development acceptable to communities."

Paragraph 127 of the NPPF requires that decisions should ensure developments:
Function well;
Add to the overall quality of the area for the lifetime of that development;
Are visually attractive in terms of:

Layout
Architecture
Landscaping

Are sympathetic to local character/history whilst not preventing change or innovation;
Maintain a strong sense of place having regard to:

Building types
Materials
Arrangement of streets

Optimise the potential of the site to accommodate an appropriate number and mix of
development;
Create safe places with a high standard of amenity for future and existing users

Paragraph 130 states permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails
to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the
way that it functions.

Paragraph 130 also seeks to ensure that the quality of an approved development is not
materially diminished between permission and completion through changes to the permitted
scheme.

3. Consultation comments

Arboricultural Officer - No objection
NatureSpace - No response

The NPPG advises that ‘Local planning authorities are expected to determine applications
for planning permission, within a time period of 5, 8, 13 or 16 weeks (depending on the type
of development). Statutory consultees should be aware of the risk that, should they fail to
respond within a specified time period, a local planning authority may proceed to decide the
application in the absence of their advice.’ (Paragraph: 016 Reference ID: 15-016-20190722)

4. Representations

In respect of this application, a site notice was displayed on a post at the entrance of the
chalet park. 7 letters of objection were received from 6 addresses and 1 letter of support.

Objections
The office is never open.
WC and hand basin will be connected to mains sewage.Page 39



Concerned it will be made into a residential chalet.
Blocks my view (No. 95).
Is there planning permission for the office?
Deeds state this development is not allowed.
Should be open and accessible to all residents.
Owners of chalets should have a say.

Support
WC and hand basin are to provide gardeners and grounds maintenance workers with
access to toilet and hand-washing as there were no facilities on-site and this surely is
essential.

The matter of whether the WC extension is acceptable or not in planning terms is not
affected by any covenants within the deeds of the site, which is a separate matter.

The applicant has not applied for change of use of the office to a residential premises and
has not stated any intention of doing so. However, it is worth noting that the original chalet
office which was granted under application HS/FA/18/01115 measures approximately 14m²
and is below the minimum size for a one bedroom dwelling according to the Nationally
Described Space Standard (NDSS) of 37m² and so permission for use as a dwelling would
not be granted based on the building’s current size. The only method by which the applicant
could legitimise residential use would be to apply for a Lawful Development Certificate after a
period of at least four years of uninterrupted use of the building as a residential dwelling
without planning enforcement action. Given the location of the site, it would seem unlikely
that residential use for four years or more would be undetected by residents.

Material planning considerations are addressed below.

5. Determining issues

The main issues to be assessed relate to the impact of the front extension on the character
and appearance of the area and the impact on the neighbouring residential amenities.

a) Principle

The site is in a sustainable location and the application is therefore in accordance with policy
LP1 Hastings Local Plan - Development Management (2015) in this respect and acceptable
in principle subject to other local plan policies.

b) Impact on character and appearance of area

Policy DM1 of the Hastings Local Plan - Development Management Plan (2015) states, all
proposals must reach a good standard of design, which includes efficient use of resources,
and takes into account protecting and enhancing local character and showing an
appreciation of the surrounding neighbourhood's historic context, street patterns, plot layouts
and boundaries, block sizes and scale, height, massing and materials. As established within
the Supplementary Planning Document - Householder Development: Sustainable Design
guidance to ensure the proposal fits in with the surrounding area. The appearance and scale
of the proposal should not detract from the surrounding buildings.

High Beech Chalet Park was built in the 1960s and many alterations to the chalets have
occurred since that time diverging away from the original uniform appearance. The additional

Page 40



WC extension to the Office is a small addition to the existing property and its design blends
in with the appearance and design of the office. It is not considered that this proposed
extension causes any harmful impact on the character and appearance of the area and
therefore the proposal is considered to be in agreement with Policy DM1 of the Hastings
Local Plan - Development Management Plan (2015).

c) Impact on neighbouring residential amenities

Policy DM3 of the Hastings Local Plan - Development Management Plan (2015) states, in
order to achieve a good living standard for future users of proposed development and its
neighbours it should be demonstrated that amenity has been considered and appropriate
solutions have been incorporated into schemes. Permission will be given for development
where the use of the scale, form, height, mass, and density of any building or buildings,
reduces or avoids any adverse impact on the amenity (privacy, over shadowing, loss of
daylight) of neighbouring properties.

Daylight, Sunlight & Overshadowing

The extension sits to the rear of the existing office and is located approximately 8 metres
from No. 95 and 4.3 metres from No. 94. The proposed extension protrudes from the rear of
the office by 1.13 metres and it stands lower than the office height at only 2.5 metres. Due to
its modest size in relation to the host building, and the distances between the neighbouring
properties, there is no overshadowing caused, nor loss of daylight or sunlight.

Therefore the proposal is considered to be acceptable in this respect.

Privacy

The extension has a single window which is on the south-west elevation and looks diagonally
towards No. 96, which is in excess of 17 metres away. Due to the distance, it is not
considered that any privacy issues are created by the window on the extension, and it is
therefore considered acceptable in this respect.

The proposed extension is therefore considered to be in agreement with Policy DM3 of the
Hastings Local Plan - Development Management Plan (2015).

d) Impact on Great Crested Newts

The development falls within the red impact risk zone for Great Crested Newts, NatureSpace
has been consulted. No response has been received. An informative is added should Great
Crested Newts be found on site at any stage of the development works.

e) Tree Preservation Order

The proposed works do not affect any protected trees and the Borough Arboriculturist has
raised no objection to the proposal.

6. Conclusion
The proposed works are considered appropriate for this location and would not cause harm
to the character or appearance of the area, and would not harm residential amenities.

These proposals comply with the Development Plan in accordance with Section 38 (6) of the
Page 41



Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which states:

"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be
made under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise”.

The Human Rights considerations have been taken into account fully in balancing the
planning issues.

7. Recommendation

Grant Full Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved plans:

1773 [7] - 1A

3. The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
extension hereby permitted shall match those used in the existing building.

Reasons:

1. This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 91 of
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2. For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. To ensure that the finished extension matches the appearance of the
existing dwelling.

Notes to the Applicant

1. Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result
in enforcement action without further warning.

2. The applicant is reminded that, under the Conservation of Habitats and
Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Wildlife and Countryside
Act 1981 (as amended), it is an offence to: deliberately capture, disturb,
injure or kill great crested newts; damage or destroy a breeding or resting
place; deliberately obstructing access to a resting or sheltering place.
Planning consent for a development does not provide a defence against
prosecution under these acts. Should great crested newts be found at any
stages of the development works, then all works should cease, and Natural
England should be contacted for advice.

More details on the district licensing scheme can be found at
Page 42



www.naturespaceuk.com

Contact details: info@naturespaceuk.com

3. Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings
Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive
and proactive manner, in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.

_____________________________________________________________________

Officer to Contact
 William Larkin, Telephone 01424 783250

Background Papers
Application No: HS/FA/23/00023 including all letters and documents

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item: 6 
 

 
Report to: 

 
Planning Committee 

 
Date: 

 
19 April 2023 

 
Report from: 

 
Planning Services Manager 

 
Title of report: PLANNING APPEALS & DELEGATED DECISIONS 

 

 
Purpose of report: 

 
To inform the Planning Committee of any planning appeals that 
have been lodged, of any decisions received from the Planning 
Inspectorate and the number of delegated decisions made 
between 11/03/2023 to 03/04/2023 
 

 
Recommendations: 

 
That the report be noted 

 
 
The following appeals have been received: 
 

 
The following appeals have been allowed: 
 

Address/ 
Application 
Number 

Proposal PSM’s Rec Where the 
decision 
was made 

Type of 
Appeal 

58 Sheerwater 
Crescent, 
Hastings, TN34 
2NZ 
 
HS/FA/22/00665 

Change of use of land to 
residential to allow 
enlargement of the rear 
garden. Removal of 
existing boundary wall 
and erection of a side 
boundary fence. 
Enlargement of 
hardstanding area to 
create additional parking 
space (amended 
description). 

REFUSED 
PERMISSION 

DELEGATED Planning 
 

15 Priory Close, 
Hastings, TN34 
1UJ 
 
HS/FA/22/00896 

Demolition of existing 
garage and construction 
of new single storey side 
extension and new porch 
to existing property 

REFUSED 
PERMISSION 

DELEGATED Planning 
 

Address/ 
Application 
Number 

Proposal PSM’s Rec Where the 
decision was 
made 

Type of 
Appeal 

Page 45

Agenda Item 6



 
 
The following appeals have been dismissed: 
 
None 
 
 
Type of Delegated Decision Number of Decisions 
Granted Permission 46 
Part Granted – Part Refused 1 
Prior Approval Approved 1 
Refused Permission 8 
Total 56 
 
Report written by 
Sam Townshend– Tel: (01424) 783264     
Email: planning@hastings.gov.uk 

Land rear of 23, 
Martineau Lane, 
Hastings, TN35 
5DS 
 
HS/FA/21/00712 

Erection of two to 
three storey detached 
dwelling (revision to 
HS/FA/17/00468) (part 
retrospective) 

GRANT 
PERMISSION 

PLANNING 
COMMITTEE 

Planning  

9 Kite Close, St 
Leonards-on-sea, 
TN38 8DR 
 
HS/FA/22/00617 

Proposed two storey 
side extension and 
internal alterations 

REFUSED 
PERMISSION 

DELEGATED Planning 

Page 46


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of previous meeting 22/03/23
	Minutes

	5a 5 The Green, St Leonards-on-sea, (HS/FA/22/00264)
	HS-FA-22-00264 5 The Green

	5b High Beech Chalet Park, (The Office), Washington Avenue, St Leonards-on-sea (HS/FA/23/00023)
	HS-FA-23-00023 High Beech Chalet Park, (The Office), Washington Avenue,

	6 Planning Appeals and Delegated Decisions

